IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

JAMES SOPER, et al.

Petitioners,

vs.

TIRE KINGDOM, INC.,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT
COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

GROSSMAN ROTH, P.A.
2525 Ponce de Leon Boulevard
Suite 1150
Coral Gables, Florida 33134
Tel.: (305) 442-8666
Fax: (305) 779-9595
(305) 779-9595
Seth E. Miles
Florida Bar No.: 385530

PODHURST ORSECK, P.A.
City National Bank, Suite 800
25 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
Tel.: 305-358-2800
Fax: 305-358-2382

By: STEPHEN ROSENTHAL
Fla. Bar No.: 0131458

BARON & HERSKOWITZ
Penthouse One, Suite 1704
9100 South Dadeland Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33156

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case presents the questions of whether the Third District’s decision is consistent with this Court’s decision in *Sosa v. Safeway Premium Fin. Co.*, No. SC09-1849 (Fla. July 7, 2011), and, further, whether *Sosa* is harmonious with the United States Supreme Court’s decision in *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes*, No. 10-277, 2011 WL 2437013 (U.S. June 20, 2011). The day before this Court released its opinion in *Sosa*, quashing the Third District’s decertification of a consumer class action, another panel of the Third District issued an opinion reversing another consumer class action – this one under the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”) – using the same analytic model now discredited by the Court’s opinion in *Sosa*. *Sosa* did not involve FDUTPA claims, so this case presents an important opportunity to clarify how the standards of Rule 1.220 of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure apply in the frequently litigated context of FDUTPA claims.

The trial court certified two classes of automotive service customers – one statewide and one for Miami-Dade County – who claim to have been damaged by Tire Kingdom’s practice of charging a 10% “shop fee” that it did not disclose in its advertisements for discounted automotive services (such as for oil changes or tire rotation). Each class encompassed two different sub-classes of class

members: those whose discount coupons failed to disclose the shop fee, and those whose discount coupons did disclose shop fee, but failed to reveal that Tire Kingdom calculates its 10% shop fee based on the undisclosed retail price of the service rather than the advertised discounted price. The the Third District reversed the class certification order. Its opinion addressed only the commonality and typicality prongs of Rule 1.220(a). Its commonality analysis focused on what it considered to be the individualized issues that would arise in Plaintiff's and the class members' FDUTPA claims.

Both in that analysis and that of the typicality prong, the district court appears to have engaged in a *de novo* review of the record rather than an explanation of how the trial court's findings were an abuse of discretion or were unsupported by substantial competent evidence. As we demonstrate below, these approaches are in express and direct conflict with three points of law set forth in *Sosa*.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED ON JURISDICTION

- A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH *SOSA v. SAFEWAY PREMIUM FIN. CO.*, NO. SC09-1849 (Fla. July 7, 2011).

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court's decision is in express and direct conflict with this Court's recent decision in *Sosa* which held, in pertinent part, that: (1) the commonality prong of Rule 1.220(a) does not involve an analysis of individualized issues in the proof of the class members' claims or defenses thereto, but instead the question of whether the class members' claims arise from a common course of conduct by the defendant and advance the same legal theory; (2) a class certification order must be reviewed for an abuse of discretion, not *de novo*; and (3) the typicality analysis looks to a similarity in legal theories and lack of antagonism between the class representatives and class members. The Third District's opinion in *Tire Kingdom* conflicts with all of these propositions.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH *SOSA* v. *SAFEWAY PREMIUM FIN. CO.*

1. The Third District's Commonality Analysis Conflicts With *Sosa*

The Third District's commonality analysis not only mimicked the approach this Court has rejected as "erroneous," *Sosa*, slip op. at 30, but it took that analysis a step further in the wrong direction, importing into the Rule 1.220(a)

commonality analysis principles applicable only to the predominance analysis under Rule 1.220(b)(3).

In *Sosa*, this Court evaluated another case in which the Third District decertified a consumer class action for ostensible failure to satisfy the commonality prong of Rule 1.220(a). In language that could apply equally to this case, this Court explained that “[t]he Third District’s reason for the reversal was that ‘there would be different circumstances for each individual member of the class which would serve as the base for and as defenses to the additional premiums charged.’” *Sosa*, slip op. at 30 (quoting *Sosa v. Safeway Premium Fin. Co.*, 15 So. 3d 8, 11 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2009)). This Court noted that the district court’s “focus[] only on the possibility of mere factual differences in the individual circumstances surrounding each of the putative class members’ claims and the variances in defenses to them” was mistaken because the commonality requirement is more easily satisfied: the plaintiffs need only show that “the class members predicated their claims on the same *common course of conduct by the defendant and the same legal theory.*” *Id.* at 30-31 (emphasis in original). This Court quashed the Third District on this point because the *Sosa* plaintiffs had adequately shown that the defendant had engaged in a “common course of conduct and business practice.” *Id.* (emphasis omitted).

In the case below, the Third District employed the very same, flawed commonality analysis that it had used in *Sosa*, again focusing on possible individualized issues rather than upon Tire Kingdom’s common business practice underlying the putative class members’ claims. The district court ignored two aspects of Tire Kingdom’s admitted business practices which underlie the class claims.¹ Instead, it focused on its belief that “individualized proof would be required.” *Tire Kingdom*, slip op. at 21; *see id.* at 22 (listing individualized issues). This focus misunderstands the requisites of the commonality prong of Rule 1.220(a).

The Third District also apparently believed that the analysis of commonality mirrors the predominance analysis under Rule 1.220(b)(3). As part of its commonality analysis, it invoked authorities pertinent to a Rule 1.220(b)(3) predominance analysis, concerning the inappropriateness of ““common proof”” as a stand-in for individual determinations. *Id.* at 24-25 (citing *Rollins v. Butland*, 951 So. 2d 860, 873-75 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2006), and *Kia Motors Am. Corp. v. Butler*,

^{1/}The first involves the practice of disseminating coupons over the internet which promoted a discounted service price but failed to disclose a shop fee, and charging customers with those coupons a shop fee nonetheless. The second involves the practice, in cases where Tire Kingdom’s coupons advertised a discounted service price and did mention a 10% shop fee, of basing the shop fee upon the undiscounted retail price of the service, rather than the advertised discounted price.

985 So. 2d 1133, 1138 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2008)).² As this Court made clear in *Sosa*, this type of inquiry concerning proof and the possibility of individualized determinations is not pertinent to the commonality inquiry.

The Third District’s approach to commonality below runs afoul of the rule in *Sosa* in another respect. This Court recognized that the commonality requirement may be satisfied “if the common or general interest of the class members is in . . . the general *question* implicated in the action.” *Sosa*, slip op. at 24-25. In other words, it suffices “if the questions linking the class members are substantially related to the resolution of the litigation.” *Id.* at 25. The Third District seemingly misconstrued the *Wal-Mart* opinion to require a narrower focus than this Court permitted in *Sosa*, suggesting that the type of common questions the U.S. Supreme Court rejected in a nationwide employment-discrimination case against the nation’s largest retailer apply to a FDUTPA class of Florida consumers. *See Tire Kingdom*, slip op. at 18-19 & n.12. This Court in *Sosa* rejected an entreaty to address *Wal-Mart* in the context of a consumer class action,

^{2/} The pages from these opinions which the Third District cited plainly contain those courts’ Rule 1.220(b)(3) analyses. That is self-evident from the page cited in *Kia*. In *Rollins* it can be seen from a look back to the beginning of the cited discussion. *See Rollins*, 951 So. 2d at 869.

but that silence invites the kind of undue constriction of the commonality analysis the district court has undertaken here.

2. The Third District Employed the Wrong Standard of Review

In *Sosa*, this Court also faulted the Third District for having failed to give any “deference to the trial court’s factual findings” and “ma[king] its own independent determination as to whether *Sosa* satisfied the requirements of Rule 1.220.” *Sosa*, slip op. at 15. In the case below, the Third District has committed the same error once again, an approach now in direct conflict with this Court’s holding in *Sosa* that a district court must “*apply*[] the abuse of discretion standard of review to the trial court’s grant of class certification,” not just purport to do so. *Id.* (emphasis added).

It is admittedly difficult to demonstrate the district court’s failure to abide by this standard of review based on the four corners of an opinion which selectively recites the facts in the record without giving any deference to, and omitting reference to, different facts found by the trial court. However, the few places in its opinion that the district court does quote the trial court’s factual findings are like protruding threads of error which, when pulled, suffice to demonstrate that the district court failed to employ the proper standard of review.

In its discussion of commonality, the district court repeated the trial court’s factual finding that “Tire Kingdom repeatedly and with only non-material variations published the same advertisements across Miami-Dade County and the State of Florida.” *Tire Kingdom*, slip op. at 16 (quoting trial court order). It assailed the trial court’s fact-finding as “not supported by the record.” *Id.* at 17. Yet the district court’s own recapitulation of the evidence concerning Tire Kingdom’s advertisements does not demonstrate that supposed lack of support in the trial court’s characterization of the evidence. If anything, they shed light on the district court’s impermissible foray into *de novo* review. The district court notes that Plaintiff Dishkin’s internet coupon for a \$16.99 oil change “did not mention shop fees, hazardous material disposal charge, or any other charge, including taxes.” *Id.* at 3. Similarly, Plaintiff Soper’s coupon for a \$19.99 “tire maintenance” also “did not mention shop fees, hazardous material disposal charge, or any other charge, including taxes.” *Id.* at 6. It did state that it applied to “Most Cars and Light Trucks.” *Id.* And Tire Kingdom’s Vice-President of Marketing admitted that some coupons “failed to include” the disclosure of a shop fee. *Id.* at 12. The district court minimized those instances. As to the coupons that did disclose the shop fee, the district court noted that their “language . . . does

not appear to be uniform.” *Id.* at 11. Some say “Plus Shop Fee” while others say “Plus Shop Fee at 10%.” *Id.*

None of these facts, as stated by the district court, undermine the trial court’s finding that the “variations” in Tire Kingdom’s discount advertisements were “non-material.” Materiality, of course, is determined with reference to the claims at issue. And both types of discount coupons – those that failed to disclose the shop fee at all, and those that disclosed the shop fee but not the fact that it was calculated based on the undisclosed retail price – are alleged to be unfair and deceptive trade practices, just for different sub-classes of customers. *See id.* at 2, 20. Thus, nothing in the district court’s opinion demonstrates that the trial court’s finding of fact lacked record support. This Court in *Sosa* stated that for a district court properly to demonstrate how a trial court’s fact-finding was unsupported in the record, it must “point[] to the lack of competent, substantial evidence supporting the trial court’s order[.]” *Sosa*, slip op. at 15. The district court did not do that here.

Nor did it defer to the trial court, or demonstrate how its fact-finding was unsupported in the record, on the issue of typicality. The district court simply asserted, without elaboration, that the record was “devoid of evidence” supporting the trial court’s finding that “Tire Kingdom engaged in ‘a common scheme.’” *Tire*

Kingdom slip op. at 26 (quoting *Safeway Premium Fin. Co. v. Sosa*, 15 So. 3d 8 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2009), *quashed sub nom. Sosa v. Safeway Premium Fin. Co.*, No, SC09-1849 (Fla. July 7, 2011)).

In summary, here as in *Sosa* “the Third District made its own findings . . .” *Sosa*, slip op. at 15.³

3. The District Court’s Typicality Analysis Conflicts With *Sosa*

The typicality standard the district court invoked conflicts with that articulated in *Sosa*. The “key” to the typicality inquiry is that the class representative have “the same legal interest” and “endure[] the same legal injury as the class members.” *Sosa*, slip op. at 41. This Court emphasized that “[m]ere factual differences between the class representative’s claims and the claims of the class members will not defeat typicality,” provided that “there is a strong similarity in the legal theories upon which the claims are based and when the claims of the class representative and class members are not antagonistic to one another.” *Id.* at 41-42. The district court did not apply this relatively low bar. Notwithstanding that it acknowledged that the Plaintiffs alleged “the same theories

³If the Court were to grant review, and broaden its gaze to the trial court’s opinion and the record, it would learn that the district court ignored many of the trial court’s findings and instead chose to view the record according to its own lights, which happen to be quite dim on consumer class actions.

of recovery” as each class member, it rejected typicality on the ground that Plaintiffs’ claims would require proof of unspecified facts that differ from those of the class members. *Tire Kingdom*, slip op. at 25-26. This conclusion conflicts with *Sosa*, which holds that typicality exists irrespective of factual differences, so long as the legal theories are the same and there is no antagonism. The district court made no mention of antagonism (and there is none), so it should not have found typicality lacking.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court should invoke its jurisdiction in this case for three reasons: (1) to quash the district court’s errors, (2) to clarify explicitly the point this Court impliedly made in *Sosa*, that *Wal-Mart* does not change Florida law on the requirements of commonality, and (3) to address the nettlesome question of the circumstances in which FDUTPA claims are amenable to class treatment.