IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-1462 L.T. No. 3D08-2088

JAMES SOPER, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

TIRE KINGDOM, INC.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT TIRE KINGDOM, INC. ON JURISDICTION

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Elliot H. Scherker Florida Bar No. 202304 Greenberg Traurig, P.A. Wells Fargo Center, Suite 4400 333 Southeast Second Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: 305.579.0500 Facsimile: 305.579.0717 *Counsel for Tire Kingdom, Inc.*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent Tire Kingdom, Inc. (Tire Kingdom) operates a multi-state chain of tire and automotive repair stores. Appendix "A" at 10.¹ In compliance with Florida law, Tire Kingdom requires every service customer to sign an estimate, which discloses, among other things, a "shop fee." (A:10-11). Every Tire Kingdom store "posts signs in its customer service area to inform Tire Kingdom customers about these charges." (A:11). Tire Kingdom's advertisements and discount coupons usually disclose the shop fee, but it "occasionally has failed to include this disclosure in an advertisement or discount coupon." (A:11-12).

Tire Kingdom store managers are given a "free range on pricing," and regularly provide discounts to customers upon request, even without a coupon. (A:12-13). "Tire Kingdom has found that strict adherence to customer discount, price adjustment, and coupon account requirements to be 'impossible of enforcement' in the milieu in which it operates." (A:14).

Petitioners Dishkin and Soper are lawyers and "social acquaintances" of would-be class counsel, who initiated the action after Dishkin and Soper each had their vehicles serviced at Tire Kingdom stores, for which they presented discount coupons that did not include a reference to shop fees. (A:3-10). Although "Tire Kingdom has no record of [Dishkin] presenting a coupon" for a \$16.99 oil change, the invoice reflects that she was charged that price and that she received a \$5.00

¹ Although sued as "Tire Kingdom, Inc.," the actual party defendant is TBC Retail Group, Inc., d/b/a Tire Kingdom.

"[s]pecial [c]redit." (A:3-4). The invoice included a \$1.70 shop fee, which was explained in a capitalized disclosure. (A:4). Dishkin "looked at' the invoice and signed it before paying for the service," but testified that she had not noticed the shop charge until she later reviewed the invoice. (A:4-5).²

Soper presented a coupon for tire maintenance service, but his Land Rover was not covered. (A:5-6). The store manager still extended the discount to Soper, who signed an estimate that included a \$3.60 shop fee and the same disclosure that appeared on Dishkin's invoice. (A:6-8). His final invoice charged him \$25.24, the amount set forth on the estimate. (A:8-9).³ "Thirty days later, his counsel filed [a] class action complaint," which also named Dishkin as a plaintiff. (A:5, 10).

The trial court certified two classes of Tire Kingdom customers (one statewide and one limited to Miami-Dade County, but otherwise identical) "who either (1) 'used or benefitted' from a discount coupon that failed to disclose the store would add a 'shop fee' to the discounted price advertised on the coupon or (2) were 'overcharged' for a service at Tire Kingdom by the 'imposition of a shop fee based upon a percentage of the retail price of the service, rather than the advertised or charged price." (A:2).⁴ The trial court based its certification on two

² Although the store had "at least four signs prominently posted in the public area of the store – two affixed at the customer counter, one affixed to the wall in the same area, and a fourth perched on a stand in the customer waiting room – Dishkin stated that she did not 'specifically recall' seeing any of the signs." (A:5).

³ Like Dishkin, Soper "did not recall" seeing several signs in the Tire Kingdom store advising of the shop fee charge and claimed that "he did not notice the 'shop fee' charge on the invoice until he got home that day." (A:9-10).

⁴ Although petitioners accuse the Third District of "failing to accord appropriate deference to the trial court's findings," Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction (PB) at 2, (continued . . .)

factors: (i) "Tire Kingdom repeatedly and with only non-material variations published the same advertisements," and (ii) the putative class members "were all victims of overcharges by [Tire Kingdom] either through the omission of the shop fee in the advertisements or being charged a shop fee based on the retail price." (A:16). The purported "common issues" are whether Tire Kingdom's representations were false and misleading, and whether class members are entitled to recover. (A:16-17). The Third District reversed the class certification, holding that petitioners had failed to establish the commonality and typicality elements – and that the trial court had committed legal error in ruling otherwise. (A:15-28).

First, the trial court's ruling that the putative class members "were all victims of overcharges" to find commonality was an impermissible merits finding:

[N]ot only are the trial court's impressions not supported by the record, but also they constitute improper incursion by the trial court into the merits of the case.... [A] trial court considering whether an action may be maintained is not to focus on the merits of the case, but only on the requirements of the [class action] rule, lest the cold neutrality of the trial judge expected in these important decisions be placed in jeopardy. The trial court crossed that line in this case by reaching its own preliminary conclusions on the merits of the case at the class action stage of the litigation. This alone is a sufficient ground upon which to reverse the class determination.

(A:17-18) (citations omitted).

Second, the trial court's commonality findings merely listed "questions that will be decided by an ultimate fact finder," which is insufficient to establish

^{(...} continued)

^{6-9,} they fail to note that the parties submitted "the class determination to the trial court based solely upon affidavits, depositions and the ... record." (A:3 n.4).

commonality, because "[a]n incantation of ultimate legal issues, however variously and creatively they might be couched, does not suffice to meet the commonality element." (A:18). Third, the trial court ignored that recovery of damages turns on each customer's specific experience:

[T]he plaintiffs here claim that each class member "pa[id] more than was bargained for." To make this determination, it follows that each class member's Tire Kingdom experience – including the precise language of each advertisement, the class member's awareness of Tire Kingdom's shop-fee signage, and the class member's conversations with Tire Kingdom employees – would have to be explored to determine Tire Kingdom's liability to each class member.... [C]ollective proof of individualized transactions cannot be used to prove the indispensable element of causation....

(A:22-23). "[A]llowing so-called 'common proof' to substitute for individually proving each class member's unique claim is **legal** error that cannot hide behind the abuse of discretion standard." (A:24) (citation omitted; original emphasis).

Addressing typicality, the court held that "'[m]erely pointing to common issues of law is insufficient to meet the typicality requirement when the facts required to prove the claims are markedly different between class members." (A:25-26) (quoting *Olen Props. Corp. v. Moss*, 981 So. 2d 515, 520 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008)). The trial court's "belief" that Tire Kingdom "engaged in a 'common scheme'" does not fill that gap, because "the factual basis of the claims asserted by the plaintiffs do not have the same basic structure as those of the certified class," such that "the representation that might be given to the few will not be found to be adequate for those that differ significantly." (A:26) (citations omitted).

As the Third District ultimately concluded:

[I]n complex cases, such as this, where no one set of operative facts establishes liability, where no single proximate cause applies to each defendant, and where individual issues outnumber common issues, trial courts should be hesitant to certify class actions.

(A:28).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In *Sosa v. Safeway Premium Finance Co.*, --- So. 3d ---, 2011 WL2659854 (Fla. July 7, 2011), this Court overturned a Third District decision reversing an order granting class certification. There the "conflict" between *Sosa* and this case both begins and ends. The Third District's decision in this case applies the correct standard of review, acknowledging that an abuse of discretion must be found, except in the instance of legal error, and there is no hint of the *de novo* review that this Court found wanting in *Sosa*. The Third District held that the trial court had committed legal errors in its class-certification analysis which – even standing alone – warranted reversal. And, in the few instances in which the court determined that the record did not support a finding, the opinion reflects that the court was *reviewing* a finding, not engaging in a *de novo* certification analysis.

Nor is there any conflict in the court's determination that the trial court erroneously found the commonality and typicality elements to have been satisfied. Indeed, the Third District presaged – by one day – this Court's holding that "[t]he primary concern in the consideration of commonality is whether the representative's claim arises from the same practice or course of conduct that gave rise to the remaining claims and whether the claims are based on the same legal theory." *Sosa, supra* at *10 (citations omitted). And, on typicality, the court's analysis precisely tracks the established governing precepts. There is no basis –

and no reason – to grant review of a decision that merely applies established precedent to overturn an erroneous class certification.

ARGUMENT

I. THE THIRD DISTRICT APPLIED THE CORRECT STANDARD OF REVIEW.

Petitioners' overarching theme is that the Third District's decision should be reviewed because its analysis conflicts with *Sosa v. Safeway Premium Finance Co.*, --- So. 3d ---, 2011 WL2659854 (Fla. July 7, 2011), in which this Court overturned an earlier Third District decision.⁵ This Court did so upon a holding that the Third District had erred "in making its own factual findings as to whether Sosa and the putative class members satisfied" Rule 1.220 of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, and in "afford[ing] no deference to the trial court's actual factual findings" in "a de novo review." *Id.* at *1. Because the claims of the class representative and class members were "based on the same legal theory," – a statutory violation – which "arose from the same course of conduct that caused a similar injury," *i.e.*, "overcharging Sosa and the putative class members an additional service charge of \$20 twice in a twelve-month period," this Court held that the trial court had correctly certified the class. *Id.* at *13-14, 19.

Petitioners essentially concede that they cannot show – on the face of the two opinions, *e.g.*, *Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 & n.3 (Fla. 1986) ("[t]he

⁵ The Third District's opinion issued on July 6, 2011, one day *before* this Court issued *Sosa*. Without giving the Third District any opportunity to address *Sosa* (or even to amend its passing reference to the Third District's decision in that case), petitioners filed their discretionary-review notice on July 8, 2011.

only facts relevant to our decision ... are those facts contained within the four corners of the decisions allegedly in conflict") – that the Third District misapplied the governing review standard. (PB:7). For all of Petitioners' fulminating, the Third District's decision largely faults the trial court for *legal* errors: (i) basing a class-certification decision on the purported merits of the claims; (ii) "allowing so-called 'common proof' to substitute for individually proving each class member's unique claim"; and (iii) "[m]erely pointing to common issues of law ... to meet the typicality requirement when the facts required to prove the claims are markedly different between class members." (A:17-18, 24-26) (quoting *Olen Props. Corp. v. Moss*, 981 So. 2d 515, 520 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008)).

The Third District strictly followed the established review standard, as reaffirmed in *Sosa, supra*, at *8 (appellate court "reviews a trial court's order on class certification for an abuse of discretion, examines the trial court's factual findings for competent, substantial evidence, and reviews conclusions of law de novo") (citations omitted). The Third District expressly recognized that the "abuse of discretion standard" applies on review (A:24), except for *legal* error. (A:17-18; 24-26).⁶ And, when the court deemed the documentary evidence legally

⁶ Indeed, any notion that the Third District misunderstood the governing standard is conclusively refuted by the court's analysis of the Rule 1.220(a) requirement. First, in passing on the commonality element, the court expressly ruled that "the trial court's impressions" were "not supported by the record." (A:17). Then, in ruling on typicality, the court faulted the trial court for "its belief that Tire Kingdom engaged in a 'common scheme'" when "[t]he evidence does not support such a conclusion." (A:26). When addressing adequacy, however, the court "agree[d] with the trial court that the plaintiffs presented sufficient evidence to satisfy this element," such that – the trial court *did not err* in finding that plaintiffs (continued . . .)

insufficient to support a legal conclusion, it expressly said so. (A:15, 26).⁷

Indeed, petitioners tip their hand even further when they go beyond the four corners of the record to suggest that, should the Court "broaden its gaze to the trial court's opinion and the record," the conflict that petitioners fail to demonstrate would become apparent. (PB:9 n.3). Petitioners' argument is thus revealed: this Court overturned the Third District in *Sosa*, therefore the Third District's decision in this case *must* somehow conflict with this Court's *Sosa* opinion. That argument is defeated by the Third District's extensively detailed analysis.

II. THE THIRD DISTRICT APPLIED THE CORRECT LAW ON THE COMMONALITY AND TYPICALITY ELEMENTS.

Petitioners' accusation that the Third District misstated commonality and typicality principles (PB:3-6, 9-10) is unavailing. On commonality, the Third District correctly declared that "[t]he primary concern" in the commonality element is "whether the representative members' claims arise in the same practice or course of conduct that give rise to the other claims and whether the claims are based on the same legal theory." (A:16) (citations omitted). The court cited

^{(...} continued)

were adequate representatives. (A:27).

⁷ As noted, petitioners filed their discretionary-review notice the day after this Court issued its *Sosa* opinion and two days after the Third District's opinion, *see* n.4, *supra*, and the Third District's opinion includes a passing reference to its own *Sosa* decision. (A:26). But the proposition for which the Third District cited its *Sosa* opinion was *endorsed* by this Court. *Sosa*, *supra* at *8 (appellate court "examines a trial court's factual findings for competent, substantial evidence"). This Court ultimately disagreed *on the merits* in *Sosa*, but that does not convert the Third District's brief reference into a basis for discretionary review.

Powell v. River Ranch Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc., 522 So. 2d 69, 70 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) – the *same decision* cited in *Sosa* – to hold that "[t]he primary concern ... is whether the representative's claim arises from the same practice or course of conduct that gave rise to the remaining claims and whether the claims are based on the same legal theory." *Sosa, supra* at *10 (citations omitted).⁸

And the Third District's recognition that "[a]n incantation of ultimate legal issues, however variously and creatively they might be couched, does not suffice to meet the commonality element of our class action rule" (A:18) (citation omitted), actually presages this Court's own recognition that the "core of the commonality requirement is satisfied if the questions linking the class members are substantially related to the resolution of the litigation." *Sosa, supra* at *11 (citation omitted).⁹ Finally, any notion that the Third District conflated commonality with the predominance element (PB:5) is confuted by the Third District's careful explication of the difference between those concepts. (A:15, n.11) ("[s]ince the

⁸ The Third District also cited *Morgan v. Coats*, 33 So. 3d 59, 64 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010), for an explication of the commonality standard (A:19), and this Court also relied on *Morgan* for the holding quoted in the text. *Sosa, supra* at *10.

⁹ Petitioners seem to be believe that the Third District citation to *Wal-Mart Stores*, *Inc. v. Dukes*, --- U.S. ---, 131 S. Ct. 2541 (2011), in discussing commonality (A:18-19), means that the court "seemingly misconstrued the *Wal-Mart* opinion to require a narrower focus than this Court permitted in *Sosa*." (PB:6). That argument is difficult to follow. As the Third District correctly noted, Florida courts often look to federal law to interpret the Florida class-action rule. (A:14, n.10), That this Court did not address the *Wal-Mart* decision in *Sosa* hardly – in petitioners' words – "invites the kind of undue constriction of the commonality analysis the district court has undertaken here" (PB:6), and, regardless, certainly does nothing to substantiate the existence of a conflict of *Florida* decisions.

predominance requirement of subsection (b)(3) is obviously more stringent than that prescribed by subdivision (a)(2), a proposed class which fails to meet this element necessarily fails to meet the requirements of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.220(b)(3)") (citation omitted).

Petitioners' attempt to confect conflict on the typicality prong (PB:9-10) fares no better. Quoting *Olen Props.*, 981 So. 2d at 520, the Third District held that "merely pointing to common issues of law is insufficient to meet the typicality requirement when the facts required to prove the claims are markedly different between class members." (A:25-26).¹⁰ The court did *not* "reject[] typicality on the ground that Plaintiffs' claims would require proof of unspecified facts that differ from those of the class members." (PB:10). Rather, the court held that typicality had not been shown because "the factual basis of the claims asserted by the plaintiffs do not have the same basic structure as those of the certified class," such that "the representation that might be given to the few *will not be found to be adequate for those that differ significantly*." (A:26) (emphasis added).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Tire Kingdom requests the Court to deny discretionary review.

¹⁰ Contrary to petitioners' suggestion, conflict does not exist because the Third District "made no mention of antagonism." (PB:10). The opinion states – in language almost identical to that used in *Sosa*, *supra* at *18 – that typicality "focuses on the sufficiency of the named plaintiffs *and the relationship between their claims and the class's claims*." (A:5) (citations omitted; emphasis added).